Randall H. Pike
Assistant Special Public Defender
State Bar No. 1940
JoNell Thomas
Chief Deputy Special Public Defender
State Bar No. 4771
Melinda Simpkins
Chief Deputy Special Public Defender
State Bar No. 7911
330 South 3rd Street, Suite 800
Las Vegas, NV 89155-2316
(702) 455-6265
Attorneys for Petitioner Joseph Warren, Jr.

Electronically Filed Sep 13 2017 10:47 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JOSEPH WARREN, JR.,

Petitioner,

VS.

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT JUDGE, THE HONORABLE RICHARD SCOTTI,

Respondents,

and

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Real Party in Interest.

Supreme Court No. _____

District Court No. C-17-323608-1

Introduction

Petitioner Warren contends that the district court lacked jurisdiction to hear an appeal from a justice court order finding a lack of probable cause at a preliminary hearing to support felony charges asserted to exist by the State. There is no statute or rule providing for an appeal in these circumstances. A writ of certiorari should issue which vacates the order entered by the district court in excess of its jurisdiction.

In the alternative, Petitioner Warren contends that the district court was obligated to dismiss the State's appeal because the case is moot due to the State's agreement to dismiss the charges at issue pursuant to a plea agreement entered in another case, and because the State violated local and district court rules which prohibit multiple applications for relief in the same matter and before different district court judges. Finally, he contends that the district court erred in its interpretation of a statute concerning the use of hearsay evidence at a preliminary hearing. Mr. Warren respectfully submits that writs of prohibition or mandamus should issue in response to the district court's erroneous rulings.

Routing Statement

This writ proceeding concerns an apparent issue of first impression concerning whether the district courts have appellate jurisdiction over orders from the justice courts finding a lack of probable cause to support felony charges. NRAP 17(10) and

(11) provide for retention by the Supreme Court of matters raising as a principal issue a question of first impression involving the United States or Nevada constitution or common law; and matters raising as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance. Petitioner submits that this matter should be retained by the Nevada Supreme Court.

Parties and Procedural History

Petitioner Warren is the defendant/respondent in the case of <u>State of Nevada</u>

<u>v. Joseoph Warren</u>, Eighth Judicial District Court, Case No. C-17-323608-A. The

State has attempted to charge him with two counts of sexual assault. The justice court found insufficient evidence to bind him over on those charges. The State appealed that ruling to the district court.

Respondent Judge Scotti was assigned to preside over the State's appeal. Real Party in Interest is the State of Nevada. The State of Nevada, through the Clark County District Attorney's Office, is the entity prosecuting Petitioner Warren.

The preliminary hearing in this case was held in justice court on April 20, 2017. App. 61, 130. After taking the matter under submission, the Justice of the Peace dismissed the charges based upon the State's failure to present sufficient evidence to establish probable cause that Mr. Warren committed the offenses. App. 61-70. The Justice of the Peace authored a thorough 10 page order in support of its decision. App. 61-70.

The State filed a Motion for Leave to File an Information by Affidavit. The motion was docketed in case number C-17-323426-1 and was assigned to the Honorable Judge Cadish, Department VI. App. 188. Mr. Warren filed an opposition to the State's motion. App. 188. Following argument from counsel, Judge Cadish denied the State's motion. App. 188-189.

The State also filed an appeal from the justice court's order, which was docketed in the district court as case number C-17-323608-A, and assigned to the Honorable Judge Scotti, Department 2, on May 16, 2017. App. 1-3. Mr. Warren filed a motion to dismiss the appeal, in which he argued that there is no statutory right to appeal from a justice court order refusing to bind over charges following a

¹Several grounds were raised in opposition to the State's motion for leave to file Information by affidavit. Judge Cadish found that the State's failure to file a sufficient affidavit was dispositive and denied the motion on that ground. App. 188-189.

preliminary hearing and that the district court therefore lacked jurisdiction to hear the appeal. App. 104, 166. The State opposed the motion to dismiss. App. 213. Following argument from counsel, the district court concluded that it had jurisdiction to hear the appeal. App. 227, 236. Mr. Warren now challenges that decision. He asked the district court to stay its decision pending this writ proceeding, but that request was denied by the district court. App. 235-238.

The State filed an Opening Brief in support of its appeal. App. 109. It argued that the justice court erred in its interpretation of a statute concerning hearsay evidence at a preliminary hearing and erred in finding that there was not probable cause to support the charges. App. 111-116. Mr. Warren filed an Answering Brief. App. 173. He contended that the appeal should be denied because (1) the State had already litigated the issue presented and having lost could not relitigate the issue in a new forum; (2) the State had already agree to dismiss any charges in the appeal, so the appeal was moot; and (3) the justice court correctly ruled on the merits concerning the scope of NRS 171.186(6). App. 180-186. Following argument from counsel, the district court orally ruled in the State's favor on each of the issues.² App. 248. On September 8, 2017, the district court entered its written order. App. 240-45. The

²A transcript of this argument is not yet available. A supplemental appendix will be filed as soon as it is received. The citation to App. 248 is to the district court's minute order.

district court concluded that it had jurisdiction to hear the appeal and found that NRS 171.196(6) allowed the State to present hearsay evidence at the preliminary hearing. App. 243. This petition for extraordinary relief now follows. Mr. Warren submits that this Court's intervention is warranted because of the important legal issues presented in this matter and because it will be impossible to obtain the relief requested in the ordinary course of the law. He requested that the district court stay its remand to the justice court, but that request was denied by the district court. App. 248.

Synopsis of the Legal Arguments

The State seeks to charge Joseph Warren with kidnapping and sexual assault. At the preliminary hearing, the State failed to call the alleged victim as a witness, even though the State claimed she was in fact available, and instead relied upon the testimony of a SANE nurse and a recording of a garbled 911 call to justify its charges. After thoroughly considering the issues, the justice court found that statements made by the alleged victim to the SANE nurse were not admissible under NRS 171.196(6) and that the State failed to present sufficient evidence to establish probable cause that Warren committed the alleged offenses.

The State then sought reversal of the justice court's decision by filing a motion for leave to file Information by affidavit. That motion was assigned to Judge Cadish and was denied. The State again sought reversal of the district court's decision, this

time by filing an appeal before Judge Scotti. Mr. Warren contends that there is no statutory right permitting an appeal of this nature and that the district court exceeded its jurisdiction by entertaining the merits of the State's appeal. He also contends that the district court was obligated to dismiss the State's appeal because it was moot as the State had already agreed to dismiss the charges at issue in this case in the context of another criminal case in which Mr. Warren had entered a guilty plea. Likewise, he argued that the State's appeal should be dismissed because the State's multiple filings before different district court judges violated district court and local rules prohibiting multiplicitous proceedings. Should the jurisdictional and procedural arguments be rejected by the Court, it is Mr. Warren's position that the district court's ruling should nevertheless be reversed because it was wrong on the merits of its interpretation of NRS 171.196(6).

A Writ of Certiori Is The Appropriate Remedy

Petitioner Warren submits that he may seek relief from this Court by a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari. NRS 34.020 provides:

- 1. This writ may be granted, on application, by the Supreme Court, the Court of Appeals, a district court, or a judge of the district court....
- 2. The writ shall be granted in all cases when an inferior tribunal, board or officer, exercising judicial functions, has exceeded the jurisdiction of such tribunal, board or officer and there is no appeal, nor, in the judgment of the court, any plain, speedy and adequate remedy.

3. In any case prosecuted for the violation of a statute or municipal ordinance wherein an appeal has been taken from a Justice Court or from a municipal court, and wherein the district court has passed upon the constitutionality or validity of such statute or ordinance, the writ shall be granted by the appellate court of competent jurisdiction pursuant to the rules fixed by the Supreme Curt pursuant to Section 4 of Article 6 of the Nevada Constitution upon application of the State or municipality or defendant, for the purpose of reviewing the constitutionality or validity of such statute or ordinance, but in no case shall the defendant be tried again for the same offense.

"A writ of certiorari is appropriate to remedy jurisdictional excesses committed by an inferior tribunal, board or officer, exercising judicial functions." <u>Las Vegas Police Prot. Ass'n v. District Court</u>, 122 Nev. 230, 241, 130 P.3d 182, 190 (2006). <u>See also Figliuzzi v. Eighth Judicial District Court</u>, 111 Nev. 338, 341-42, 890 P.2d 798, 800-01 (1995).

Mr. Warren contends that the district court lacks jurisdiction to consider an appeal by the State from an order of the justice court finding that the State failed to present probable cause in support of charges and refusing to bind over felony charges. Certiorari is the appropriate remedy as there is no right of appeal from the district court's order remanding the case to justice court for further proceedings. See Zamarripa v. First Judicial District Court, 103 Nev. 638, 640, 747 P.2d 1386, 1387 (1987); Las Vegas v. Carver, 92 Nev. 198, 547 P.2d 688 (1976).

In The Alternative, A Writ of Prohibition Or Mandamus Is The Appropriate Remedy

Petitioner Warren will suffer irreparable harm if he is forced to continue litigation in this matter. The State has already agreed that the charges should be dismissed and the appeal to the district court was therefore seeking a mere advisory decision. Moreover, the State has violated district court and local court rules which prohibit the multiplicity of proceedings and the forum shopping which has taken place here. Finally, there is no merit to the State's legal argument. The expense, turmoil, emotional burden, and other hardships associated with the State's continued prosecution of this case cannot be cured on direct appeal from a judgment of conviction and warrant immediate intervention by this Court.

This Court has "original jurisdiction to issue writs of mandamus and prohibition." Gonzalez v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 298 P.3d 448, 449 (Nev. 2013); Nev. Const. art. 6 § 4. A writ of mandamus may issue to compel the performance of an act that the law requires "as a duty resulting from an office, trust or station." NRS 34.160. A writ of prohibition is available to halt proceedings occurring in excess of a court's jurisdiction. NRS 34.320. "This court may issue a writ of mandamus to compel the performance of an act which the law requires as a duty resulting from an office or where discretion has been manifestly abused or

exercised arbitrarily or capriciously. The writ does not issue where the petitioner has a plain, speedy, and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of law. This Court considers whether judicial economy and sound judicial administration militate for or against issuing the writ. The decision to entertain a mandamus petition lies within the discretion of this court." Redeker v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court (Mosley), 122 Nev. 164, 167, 127 P.3d 520, 522 (2006) (citing NRS 34.160, NRS 34.170, Round Hill Gen. Imp. Dist. v. Newman, 97 Nev. 601, 603-04, 637 P.2d 534, 536 (1981); Hickey v. District Court, 105 Nev. 729, 731, 782 P.2d 1336, 1338 (1989); State v. Babayan, 106 Nev. 155, 175-76, 787 P.2d 805, 819 (1990)). "This Court may also exercise its discretion to entertain a writ petition "[w]here the circumstances establish urgency or strong necessity, or an important issue of law requires clarification and public policy is served by this court's exercise of its original jurisdiction." Schuster v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 123 Nev. 187, 190, 160 P.3d 873, 875 (2007).

Petitioner Warren has no other plain, adequate or speedy remedy at law to protect his right not to face additional proceedings which have been ordered by a district court without jurisdiction over his case. Moreover, judicial economy and sound judicial administration warrant issuance of the writ and this case presents an opportunity for this Court to clarify an important issue of law.

Request for Relief

Wherefore, based on the foregoing and the accompanying Points and Authorities, Petitioner Warren respectfully requests that this Court issue a Writ of Certiorari in which it vacates the district court's order of remand based upon the district court's lack of jurisdiction to hear an appeal from a justice court order finding a lack of probable cause to support felony charges. In the alternative, he requests that this Court issue a Writ of Prohibition which vacates the district court's order of remand and prohibits the district court from taking any further action in this case because it is moot and because the State violated district court and local rules by filing multiple cases concerning the same matter. In the alternative, he requests that this Court issue a Writ of Mandamus which vacates the district court's order of remand, and compels the district court to deny the State's appeal on its merits.

Dated this day of September, 2017.

JoNell Thomas

Melinda Simpkins

elvola Saystime

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF WRIT

Statement of the Facts

The State contends that Defendant Joseph Warren Jr. sexually assaulted Kearstin Ellis. App. 140. Warren contests that allegation and asserts that he had consensual sex with Ellis in exchange for methamphetamine. App. 139. After the exchange was completed, Ellis reported that she had been sexually assaulted at Freedom Park³. She was transported to University Medical Center where she underwent a SANE evaluation by Jeri Dermanelian, a registered nurse, who owns a company called Rose Heart that provides sexual assault nurse examinations. App. 133. Her specific duties and responsibilities are to provide options for patients that come in with a chief complaint of sexual assault. App. 133. During that examination, evidence was collected and turned over to the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department. App. 136.

Joseph Warren, Jr. was subsequently arrested and charged with one count of First Degree Kidnapping, one count of Sexual Assault, one count of Battery with

³Although Kearstin Ellis allegedly made a call to 911 to report the alleged sexual assault, the 911 telephone call presented by the State at the Preliminary Hearing is unintelligible due to the garbled language used by the caller. App. 138. In addition, the caller never states their name during the call and the 911 operator never asks. The transcript submitted by the State at the Preliminary Hearing was not admitted as evidence and the district court instead relied on the audio recording. App. 140.

Intent to Commit Sexual Assault and two counts of Open and Gross Lewdness. App. 5-6. The Preliminary Hearing was held on April 20, 2017. App. 130. During that hearing, counsel stipulated to the admission of DNA reports. App. 132. The State called only one witness, Jeri Dermanelian, the SANE nurse, who testified, over objection, as to what Kearstin Ellis allegedly told her during the examination. App. 133. The State asserted that this testimony was allowed pursuant to the hearsay exception regarding statements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment. App. 133. It was during this examination that Ellis allegedly told Dermanelian that:

[S]he was walking home. She was going to go to her fiance's house. She was stopped. When she stopped, she went to have a cigarette. A male came up to her that she didn't know and asked her if he could have a cigarette. She gave him a cigarette. And she stated that she was forced to have finger to vagina and then penis to vagina intercourse in a bathroom. She stated she was in a standing position and bent over. She stated that the male used a garbage bag to wrap as a possible condom. The garbage bag came off, and there was penis to vagina intercourse without the wrapper. The ejaculation took place in the vagina.

The patient states that she was forced to smoke methamphetamines. The male told her that the methamphetamines would make her wet. And she stated that she was not hit with an open hand or closed fist. There was no gun or knife used in the sexual assault.

App. 133. Dermanelian went on to state that Ellis did, in fact, test positive for both methamphetamine and marijuana. App. 134.

Dermanelian also described the options that Ellis was given at the time of her forensic examination:

- A. The patient, as an adult, is given four options or four choices as to which type of examination they want done.
- Q. And what are those four options?
- A. Briefly, the first option is to decline the exam at the end of the conversation, after they have more knowledge on what's included in each one of the options. If they choose not to go forward, they can just simply say they don't want the exam,, and the exam will stop at that time.

The second option is what I term medical only. It's a medical exam that does a head-to-toe assessment. Sexually transmitted and infection testing is done, including blood and pelvic exam, if it's a female, and potentially an anal exam also. The patient would be given antibiotics to prevent gonnorrhea and chlamydia. Morning-after medication wold be discussed, and a urine pregnancy and urine drug screen would be done on a medical. What's made clear to the patient is that with a medical-only exam, there's no forensics evidence collected, no sexual assault kit obtained, and that there would be no photographs of their body taken.

The third choice is called an anonymous or a Jane Doe sexual assault exam. Jane Doe for the females. John Does for the males. And that's an anonymous sexual assault kit that would be completed. And all of the medical examinations, testing, and head-to-toe assessment that's offered in Option 2 would be also included in Option 3. The 30-day window would be given to the patient so they could decide if they wanted to go forward from a legal perspective. They have 30 days to activate their case. So photographs would be taken with that exam and a sexual assault kit would be completed.

The fourth option is the full, forensic sexual assault kit, the medical. And then that includes the law enforcement where the patient is going

to be notified that they're going to request a criminal investigation to be initiated regarding a sexual assault complaint.

Q. And which of those options did Miss Ellis choose?

A. Fourth.

App. 134.

On cross examination, Dermanelian testified that she strictly does forensic examinations and that she does them primarily for police departments. App. 136. She also admitted that law enforcement was involved with the instant examination, she received information from law enforcement, Ellis was transported to her examination by law enforcement, she sent a sexual assault kit to the Las Vegas Crime Lab, and she collected evidence for the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department. App. 136. Dermanelian also testified that, upon meeting Ellis, she knew that the chief complaint was sexual assault *because "That was her chief complaint to the triage nurse."* App. 136, indicating that Dermanelian was not the only medical professional to see and speak with Ellis at the hospital.

At that point, counsel renewed the objection to Dermanelian's testimony because it was not for the purposes of medical diagnosis and treatment. App. 137. In their argument opposing, the State cited to Medina v. State, 122 Nev. 346, 143 P.3d 471 (Nev. 2006) for the proposition that because the confrontation clause does not

apply at preliminary hearings, Dermanelian's testimony should stand.⁴ App. 137. At the end of extensive argument and additional testimony regarding the medical treatment provided to Kearstin Ellis,⁵ the justice court allowed Dermanelian's testimony to remain in evidence as a statement made for the purpose of medical diagnosis or treatment. App. 138.

After calling counsel to the bench and expressing concern about the issue of consent, the Court questioned the State regarding the whereabouts of their witness. The State asserted that they knew where Kearstin Ellis was, however, they were proceeding solely on the evidence and testimony presented. Thereafter, the State entered into evidence a 911 call over objection and attempted to enter into evidence

⁴In Medina v. State, 122 Nev. 346, 350, 143 P.3d 417 (Nev. 2006), this Court stated "SANE nurses are funded by the State of Nevada Department of Social Services and are trained to conduct sexual assault examinations. A particular duty of a SANE nurse is to gather evidence for possible criminal prosecution in cases of alleged sexual assault. SANE nurses do not provide medical treatment."

⁵This "medical treatment" consisted of: "The medical history was obtained, the history of the event was obtained, the sexually transmitted infection blood testing was drawn, urine was obtained, the antibiotics were administered, the morning-after medication was administered, and the discharge information was given to the patient. Referral information was given to the patient for the 12-week follow-up for the second HIV and syphilis test." Of note, however, is that had Kearstin Ellis been seeking only medical treatment, she could have chose the option that allowed only for medical treatment. She did not. She chose the criminal investigation option so, even though this "medical treatment" was given to her, it was done for the purpose of criminal investigation.

the transcript of that 911 call - which was denied. App. 138-140. The State then rested without calling any other witnesses or presenting any other evidence. The justice court then took the matter under advisement and issued its written decision, which is discussed in detail below, dismissing all counts. App. 140.

As set forth above, and discussed in detail below, the State first sought to challenge the justice court's order by seeking relief from Department 6, Judge Cadish, in form of a motion for leave to file Information by affidavit. After that motion was dismissed, the State again sought to challenge the justice court's order by way of appeal to Department 2, Judge Scotti. Judge Scotti granted relief to the State and this petition for extraordinary relief now follows.

Argument

A. The District Court Did Not Have Jurisdiction To Hear The State's Appeal.

Petitioner Warren contends that there is no right of appeal, by either statute or rule, from a justice court order finding a lack of probable cause to support felony charges following a Preliminary Hearing.

Nevada has defined available remedies for the State following dismissal of a criminal complaint at a preliminary hearing based upon a lack of probable cause.

After a magistrate dismisses a criminal complaint at a preliminary hearing for lack of

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