IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 
   

 
JOSEPH WARREN, JR., 
Petitioner, 
vs. 
THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 
COURT OF THE STATE OF 
NEVADA, IN AND FOR THE 
COUNTY OF CLARK; AND THE 
HONORABLE RICHARD SCOTTI, 
DISTRICT JUDGE, 
Respondent’s, 
    and 
THE STATE OF NEVADA,  
Real Party In Interest. 

 

 

   

    CASE NO:   73963 

  

 

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW 

 COMES NOW the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark 

County District Attorney, through his Chief Deputy, STEVEN S. OWENS, and files 

this Answer to Petition for Review pursuant to this Court’s Order Directing Answer 

to Petition for Review, filed May 24, 2018. 

 This petition is based on the following memorandum of points and authorities 

and all papers and pleadings on file herein. 

 Dated this 8th day of June, 2018. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
 

 
BY /s/ Steven S. Owens 

  STEVEN S. OWENS 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar # 004352 
Office of the Clark County District Attorney 

Electronically Filed
Jun 08 2018 04:17 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Docket 73963   Document 2018-21956
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MEMORANDUM 

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 
 

On March 21, 2018, the Court of Appeals denied Warren’s request for 

certiorari, writ of prohibition or mandamus. Warren then filed the instant Petition 

for Supreme Court review on April 4, 2018. On May 24, 2018, this Court directed 

the State to answer the petition for review within 15 days.  

Pursuant to NRAP 40B, a party aggrieved by a decision of the Court of 

Appeals may file a petition for review with the clerk of the Supreme Court within 

18 days.  The petition must state the question presented for review and the reason 

review is warranted.  Supreme Court review is not a matter of right but of judicial 

discretion.  The following, while neither controlling nor fully measuring the 

Supreme Court’s discretion, are factors that will be considered in the exercise of that 

discretion:  1) Whether the question presented is one of first impression of general 

statewide significance; 2) Whether the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts 

with a prior decision of the Court of Appeals, the Supreme Court, or the United 

States Supreme Court; or 3) Whether the case involves fundamental issues of 

statewide public importance.  NRAP 40B(a).  The petition shall succinctly state the 

precise basis on which the party seeks review by the Supreme Court and may include 

citation of authority in support of that contention. 
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In seeking this Court’s review, Warren argues that the district court does not 

have discretion to hear a State’s appeal from a justice court’s order dismissing felony 

charges. Petition at 2-3. He further argues this is a case of first impression or of 

general statewide significance, and involves fundamental issues of statewide public 

importance. Petition at 3. The State responds as follows. 

The district court has jurisdiction to hear an appeal from a justice court order 

dismissing a felony case. A majority of the Court of Appeals held that “Because the 

justice court order dismissed all charges against Warren, it was a final judgment 

from which the State could appeal.” Warren v. State, Docket No. 73963, Order 

Denying Petition at 1. This reasoning is sound and does not warrant this Court’s 

intervention by way of petition for review.   

Warren erroneously asserts that the district court lacked jurisdiction to 

consider the State’s Appeal and regurgitates the Court of Appeals dissent. This Court 

has consistently held that the right to appeal is statutory; where no statutory authority 

to appeal is granted, no right to appeal exists.  Castillo v. State, 106 Nev. 349, 352, 

792 P.2d 1133, 1135 (1990).  The plain language of NRS 177.015(1)(a) clearly vests 

the district court with final appellate jurisdiction over a final judgment of the justice 

court, regardless of whether the party appealing is the State or the defendant. 
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Sandstrom v. Second Judicial Dist. Court of State, 121 Nev. 657, 659, 119 P.3d 

1250, 1252 (2005).   

This Court has already concluded that NRS 177.015(1)(a) vests the district 

courts “with the same appellate jurisdiction as is granted to this court in subsection 

1(b),” which includes an appeal from the granting of a motion to dismiss.  

Sandstrom, 121 Nev. at 660, 119 P.3d at 1253.  Subsection 3 of the statute which 

provides that only a defendant may appeal from a final judgment in a criminal case, 

only applies to a final verdict or judgment of conviction and has no application to 

the present facts.  But an erroneous legal ruling by district court dismissing a criminal 

case is appealable to this Court, even if only some of the courts are dismissed.  State 

v. Koseck, 112 Nev. 244, 245, 911 P.2d 1196, 1197 (1996).  So, too, an erroneous 

legal ruling by a justice of the peace dismissing a criminal case is appealable to the 

district court. The only remaining question is whether the justice court order 

dismissing the complaint constituted a final judgment. 

This Court has defined a final order as one that disposes of all issues and 

leaves nothing for future consideration.  Sandstrom, 121 Nev. at 659, 119 P.3d at 

1252;  Castillo, 106 Nev. at 351, 792 P.2d at 1134 (holding that “[a]n appeal in a 

criminal case lies from the final judgment of the district court, not from an order 

finally resolving an issue in a criminal case”); Elsman v. Elsman, 54 Nev. 20, 30, 3 
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P.2d 1071, 1072 (1931) (stating that a final judgment in a civil case disposes of all 

issues and leaves nothing for future consideration).  The justice court order in the 

present case dismissed all criminal charges and the entirety of the criminal complaint 

leaving no issue unresolved. PA 119-28. Just like the order of dismissal of 

misdemeanor charges in Sandstrom, an order of dismissal of felony charges is a final 

judgment. 

Petitioner reasons that the order of dismissal of felony charges in justice court 

is not a “final judgment” because the State has alternative means of prosecution 

available to it, specifically indictment and information by affidavit. Petition at 9. But 

the finality of a particular judgment does not turn on the availability of other 

remedies.  In Sandstrom, the dismissal of misdemeanor charges in justice court was 

no less final even though alternative means of prosecution may exist by prosecuting 

the same charges in municipal court.  When parties appeal to this Court from a final 

judgment, there is jurisdiction for the appeal notwithstanding the availability of other 

remedies in federal court or by collateral writ proceedings.  It is not the lack of other 

remedies which triggers the right to appeal, but the finality of the judgment of the 

particular court being appealed.  In NRS 177.015, a “final judgment” is modified by 

the words, “of the justice court.”  Just because other entities such as a grand jury or 

district court may have something more to say in regards to the same criminal 
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charges, does not render the justice court order of dismissal any less final.  The 

justice of the peace has spoken their final word as to the disposition of the criminal 

charges before them and the order of dismissal is final. 

Warren argues that other than seeking an Indictment, there is no other method 

for challenging a justice court’s probable cause determination. Petition at 9. The fact 

that there is more than one way that the State could have addressed the justice court 

order does not equate to a finding that the way the State proceeded was invalid. NRS 

173.035(2); NRS 177.015(1)(a). In the adversarial system, the State has an almost 

exclusive right to decide how to charge a criminal defendant, which includes the 

authority to allege that a defendant committed an offense by one or more alternative 

means. NRS 173.075(2); Righetti v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 133 Nev. __, __, 

388 P.3d 643, 647 (2017). Moreover, so long as a prosecutor has probable cause to 

believe that the accused committed an offense defined by statute, the decision 

whether or not to prosecute, and what charge to file generally rests entirely in his or 

her discretion. Salaiscooper v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 117 Nev. 892, 903, 34 

P.3d 509, 516 (2001). 

The power of the district courts to entertain appeals from justice court orders 

is firmly rooted in the Nevada Constitution, as well as in our statutory authority. 

Already, district courts have jurisdiction to review justice court findings and dismiss 
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felony charges through a defendant’s Pre-Trial Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. 

State v. Fuchs, 78 Nev. 63, 65, 368 P.2d 869, 869 (1982); Sheriff v. Hodes, 96 Nev. 

184, 186, 606 P.2d 178, 180 (1980). District courts regularly review a justice court’s 

determination of the facts, law, and evidence presented at preliminary hearings. The 

State’s appeal to the district court in this case challenged the justice court’s probable 

cause determination and legal interpretations on the hearsay statute pursuant to NRS 

177.015 (1)(a). To hold that the State cannot challenge a probable cause hearing 

through NRS 177.015(a) but at the same time allow defendants to challenge justice 

court rulings on felony charges arising from a justice court preliminary hearing 

would prejudice the State. Therefore, it follows that district courts have the ability 

and power to review probable cause determinations by the justice court on felony 

preliminary hearings.  

Despite the plain language of this statute, Warren argues that neither NRS 

177.015 nor Sandstrom apply in this case. Petition at 10. This is without merit. The 

only argument made by Warren in opposition to the plain language of the statute is 

to point out that Sandstrom was a misdemeanor case whereas this case deals with 

felonies. This argument does not overcome the statutory language that the party 

aggrieved in a criminal action, whether the State or the defendant, may appeal to the 

district court from a final judgment of the justice court. Nothing in the statute makes 



 

   

 

 I:\APPELLATE\WPDOCS\SECRETARY\PETITONS - REVIEW\ANSWER\WARREN, JOSEPH JR., 73963, ST'S ANSW. TO PET. FOR REVIEW..DOCX 

8 

a distinction between misdemeanor and felony cases, and Sandstrom did not 

expressly exclude felony cases from its analysis. The State’s Notice of Appeal was 

filed within the statutory time period. As such, the plain language of NRS 177.015 

provides the State the right to appeal from a final judgment of the justice court and 

Warren’s contention to the contrary is incorrect.1  

Moreover, the State questions why Warren is disgruntled with the fact that the 

State did not proceed to the grand jury. Had Warren’s case gone before the grand 

jury with the facts elicited at the preliminary hearing it is more likely that he would 

have been indicted based upon the DNA match found in the victim. PA 139. Warren 

would have had a far more difficult time challenging case with limited involvement 

and opportunity to respond. Arguably, both of the methods that the State chose to 

                                              
1 Moreover, NRS 173.035(2) provides the State with the remedy of seeking leave to 

file an Information by Affidavit. NRS 173.035(2) does not limit the State by 

claiming that indictments and motions for leave to file an information by affidavit 

are the sole and exclusive remedy for the State after a justice court discharges a 

defendant. In the instant case, the State chose to pursue options permitted by both 

NRS 173.035(2) and NRS 177.015(1)(a), each of which has very different 

consequences. If the State’s motion seeking leave to file an information by affidavit 

in front of Judge Cadish were granted, the case at issue would have been set for trial 

in district court and the justice court’s order would not have been addressed. 

Similarly, at the time Judge Scotti considered the appeal from the justice court, the 

State noted if the court granted the appeal, the justice court’s Order would be vacated 

and the case sent back to the justice court for further proceedings. Therefore, both 

NRS 177.015 and NRS 173.035(2) provided the court with authority to decide the 

State’s issues through two separate procedural mechanisms. 
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proceed forward on in challenging the justice court’s decision allowed Warren to be 

present and respond to the State’s arguments before the district court.  

This is not a case of the State getting two bites at the apple. Regardless of 

Warren’s interpretation of NRS 177.015(1)(a) and Sandstrom, the State’s case is not 

over simply because of a justice court’s dismissal. The State like defendants have 

the opportunity to challenge the justice court in district court. Nevada statutory 

authority and case law supports the Court of Appeals finding and further that after a 

justice court’s order dismissing charges after a preliminary hearing the State may 

appeal the justice court’s decision regardless of any felony and misdemeanor 

distinction by one or more means: 1) indictment 2) motion for leave to file 

information by affidavit 3) appeal to the district court. NRS 177.015; NRS 

173.035(2); Sandstrom, 121 Nev. at 657, 119 P.3d at 1250; State v. Sixth Judicial 

Dist. Court, 114 Nev. 739, 741, 964 P.2d 48, 49 (1998). Therefore, Warren’s claim 

is not an issue of statewide importance and does not involve an unsettled recurring 

question of law. This Court’s review under NRAP 40B is unwarranted as the legal 

standard has not been met here.  

WHEREFORE, the State respectfully requests that the petition for review 

be denied. 

/ / / 
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Dated this 8th day of June, 2018. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar # 001565 

 

 BY /s/ Steven S. Owens 

  
STEVEN S. OWENS 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #004352  
Office of the Clark County District Attorney 
Regional Justice Center 
200 Lewis Avenue 
Post Office Box 552212 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 
(702) 671-2750